A Study to Answer the Question:

Was the Métis Election of 2004 run in a fair and democratic manner such that its results can be relied upon by Métis people and the Government of Saskatchewan?

> Prepared and submitted by: Keith Lampard Regina, Saskatchewan 7 October 2004

I would like to express my thanks to the many Métis people who helped me in the compilation of this report. Your kindness and hospitality will be long remembered.

Table of Contents

Page

Introduction	1
The Three Criteria Basic to an Election	1
The Second Criterion	2
Western Region I	2
Meadow Lake Local #31	2
Western Region IA	6
Frenchman Butte Local #92 (i) The Official Count	6 10
Wilkie Local #132 Denholm/Delmas Local #98 Hamlin Local #93 Marshall Local 94	13
Maymont Local #172	19
Western Region II	26
Prince Albert Local #7 Timberland (Shellbrook) Local #121 Victoire Local #129 Prince Albert Local #269	26 29 29 30
Western Region IIA	31
Cando Local #36 Outlook Local #155 Scott Local #112 Saskatoon CUMFI Local #165 Saskatoon Gabriel Dumont Local #11	31 34 34 35
Western Region III	37
Riel Métis Council of Regina (RMCR) Local #110 Swift Current Local #35 Regina Beach Local #29	37
Maple Creek Local #12/14	39

Table of Contents (continued)

Eastern Region IIA	42
Yorkton Local #13	42
Northern Region II	44
La Loche Local #39	44
The Third Criterion	47
Election Dispute Resolution	47
The First Criterion	48
An Alternative Electoral Process	50
Registry of Locals	50
General Comments on the Running of the Election	53
The Unofficial Count	53
 Ballots	53 54 55 56 56 57 57
The Official Count	

Page

The Official (Count	57
Locals	;	59
Voter's Lists		59
Conclusion		62
Appendix A	The Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Election Act, 1999	
Appendix B	Métis Nation of Saskatchewan Election Regulations	
Appendix C	Constitution of the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan	

Table of Contents (continued)

Appendix D	The Métis Nation Legislative Assembly Act, 1999
Appendix E	The Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Senate Act, 1999
Appendix F	Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Citizenship Act, 1999
Appendix G	The Métis Act
Appendix H	The Non-profit Corporations Act, 1995

Introduction

The Three Criteria Basic to an Election

Any organization, from local club to nation state, that purports to operate on democratic principles, must follow three basic criteria that ensure elections are fair and democratic. People voting in an election must have faith in the electoral process itself even though they may not necessarily welcome the election results. Without that faith on the part of the voters that the election process is fair and honestly run, only cynicism and disaffection can result.

The *first criterion* is that there be a set of rules and regulations that clearly outline the electoral process and are fair and enforceable. The rules and regulations governing elections for the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan are contained in The Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Election Act, 1999, (the "MNS Election Act") and the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan Election Regulations (the "MNS Election Regulations"). Copies of the MNS Election Act and the MNS Election Regulations are to be found respectively as Appendix A and B of this report. This MNS Election Act and MNS Election Regulations were enacted by the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan Legislative Assembly pursuant to the Constitution of the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan (the "MNS Constitution Act") (Article 8) which is appended hereto as Appendix C. Other legislation that impacts upon the Métis electoral process are The Métis Nation Legislative Assembly Act, 1999 (the "MNS Legislative Assembly Act") (Appendix D); The Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Senate Act, 1999 (the "MNS Senate Act") (Appendix E); and the Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Citizenship Act, 1999 (the "MNS Citizenship Act") (Appendix F). Provincial legislation that bears upon the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan are The Métis Act (Appendix G) and The Non-profit Corporations Act 1995, the relevant sections of which are to be found in Appendix H.

The second criterion is that the rules and regulations outlining the electoral process are in fact followed and are clearly seen by the electorate as having been followed.

The *third criterion* is that there be provision for the settlement of any disputes that might materially affect the outcome of the election, by an independent tribunal.

This report will look first at the second of these criteria to see whether or not the rules and regulations outlining the electoral process were followed in those polls about which most complaints were voiced.

Western Region I

Meadow Lake Local #31

Complaints have centered around people not being allowed to vote because they were not issued their Métis Citizenship card by the Local; names of voters not being entered in the poll book; and the ballot box leaving the polling place after close of poll, unsealed.

In the matter of the presentation of a Métis Citizenship Card in order to vote, "Article 7 - Electors" of the MNS Election Act states only that:

- "7. In order to cast a ballot in an election, an elector shall:
 - 7.1 Meet the requirements of Eligibility pursuant to this Act.

7.3 Be on the Electoral List on Election Day. (My underlining)

7.4 Vote at the polling station closest to where they are registered and ordinarily resident ...

7.6 Notwithstanding s.7.3, a member/citizen who has been missed from inclusion on the Electoral List upon the signing of a Declaration Form, accompanied by producing his/her Métis Nation
Saskatchewan membership/citizenship card shall be added to the Electoral List and allowed to vote (amended July 4, 2003)."

In contrast to Article 7 of the MNS Election Act, the MNS Election Regulations state at Section 14.7.3:

"If the elector's name is on the Electoral List of that polling station, then the elector shall present his/her proper identification to the election officer for verification."

The MNS Election Act states that if the voter's name is on the electoral list they may vote. Only when the voter's name is not on the electoral list must a voter produce a membership/citizenship card and sign a declaration. The MNS Election Regulations say however, that the voter's name must be on the electoral list <u>and</u> the voter must also present "proper identification" to the electoral officer for verification.

In his <u>Deputy Returning Officer and Poll Clerk Instructions</u> sent with the ballot box to the polls on election day, the Chief Electoral Officer states:

"... When the voter arrives at the polls <u>and is not on the voter's list</u>, he/she must produce a Métis Nation Saskatchewan citizenship card and sign the declaration. Samples of cards which are considered valid is being sent to the DRO for comparison. Métis Local membership cards signed only by the President are not acceptable." (My underlining)

The MNS Election Act Section 7.3 and the MNS Election Regulations Section 14.7.3 contradict each other on whether or not a "proper identification" is necessary if the voter is listed on the electoral list. The CEO's instructions to DRO's agree with the MNS Election Act Section 7.3. Clearly the intention was only to require the voter to produce a membership/citizenship card if their name was <u>not</u> on the electoral list and a Declaration Form had to be signed. It is easy to see, however, why it was almost universally believed that it was necessary for the voter to produce a citizenship card because of the heavy emphasis placed on the kinds of cards that were acceptable in order to sign a Declaration Form.

This problem was further exacerbated in Meadow Lake because of the ill-feeling between the established Local #31, which is recognized by the MNS, and a new Local which is being formed by a group of disaffected Métis people which is not yet registered. As a result it would appear that names were left off the electoral list and some membership cards were not distributed. Recognition of this second Local by the MNS would rectify the situation, but in the meantime it is not possible to quantify what effect this situation may have had on the Local poll results.

As regards the names of voters not being entered in the poll book, the MNS Election Act, Article 2 Interpretation, at section 2.16 defines "Poll Book" as follows:

"Poll Book' shall mean the list of names of citizens who have received ballots at an election pursuant to this Act."

The MNS Election Regulations under Section 29 "Poll Book" states:

29.1 "The poll book shall contain the names of all electors listed on the Electoral List and the signatures of all electors next to their name on the Electoral List."

MNS Election Regulations at Section 14.7.4 state:

14.7.4 "... the election officer shall require the elector to sign his/her name opposite the place where it appears in the Poll Book maintained by the election officer." Again the MNS Election Act and the MNS Election Regulations contradict each other, the former stating that the poll book should list the names only of those who received ballots, the latter stating that all the names on the electoral list should be entered in the poll book with those receiving ballots signing for them opposite their name. The MNS Election Act has the proper interpretation of the function of a poll book and takes precedence over the MNS Election Regulations.

The <u>Deputy Returning Officer and Poll Clerk Instructions</u> sent by the CEO with the ballot boxes states as follows:

"Poll Book - As a voter arrives, the DRO must have each person voting sign the poll book including the postal address, etc. ...".

This is the correct procedure and is clear enough to be easily understood. In the Meadow Lake poll, however, the procedure outlined by the CEO was ignored. Instead, the names of voters to whom ballot papers were issued were merely crossed off the voter's list (a copy of which was not made available to scrutineers until they managed to photocopy a list later on) on the grounds that it would take too long if every voter signed the poll book. This procedure was followed despite objections from scrutineers present. The DRO stated to me that no training was provided to election officials and that since he started out that way he continued the practice all day for the sake of consistency.

Thus, according to the DRO and the scrutineers present, no person who voted signed the poll book and the only record of who voted is a voter's list with the names of those who voted crossed off.

The last complaint deals with the sealing of the ballot box at the end of the day. After the counting of the ballots at the end of the evening, everything was put into the ballot box but the ballot box was not sealed by the DRO according to the scrutineers present. Despite their objections, the ballot box was taken out of the polling place unsealed and was even dropped, spilling two envelopes, which were picked up and replaced in it. The reason given by the DRO to the scrutineers as to why the box was not sealed was that a receipt had to be put in it before it was sent back to the CEO.

On the tally sheet provided by the CEO of the Official Count, the notes at the bottom show the number of voters listed in the poll book as having voted as 288. This is a very strange notation in light of the fact that the local election officials and

scrutineers all agree that no names were signed in the poll book that election day, but merely crossed off the Electors' List. Stranger still is that the tally sheets show a total of 297 ballots cast for the presidential candidates. If the poll book was blank or there was no poll book in the ballot box it is odd that none of the scrutineers at the Official Count made a note to that effect, but Meadow Lake Local #131 was one of the few tally sheets that had no objections noted on it of any kind. I spoke to a scrutineer present at the Final Count and he stated that the poll book did in fact not contain any names. The integrity of the ballots was surely compromised in light of the ballot box leaving the polling place unsealed.

Are the irregularities outlined above sufficient to challenge the official election results?

If the names of those who voted are not entered in a poll book and a line drawn under the last signature and the rest of the page X'd out so that no further names can be added; and if instead names of voters are merely crossed off a voter's list with nothing to prevent further names being crossed off later, then that ballot box has a problem. Compound this with the ballot box leaving the polling place unsealed and one can only declare the Meadow Lake ballot box irredeemably tainted. Again, one would need access to the ballot box in order to verify these assertions, but on the evidence presented here I feel the ballots should be discounted. Since in the presidential race alone, Roth's voters exceeded Doucette's by 65 and Roth's margin of victory over Doucette was 26, the discounting of the Meadow Lake poll would have the effect of overturning the election result in the presidential race.

Western Region IA

Frenchman Butte Local #92

Complaints have centered around the appointment of the deputy returning officer (DRO) and poll clerk; the location of the polling place; the revised voters' list; and the final count.

The appointment of the DRO and poll clerk is covered under the MNS Election Act and Regulations as follows:

MNS Election Act Section 4.6:

"The Métis Elections Commission shall appoint the Local Returning Officers and Poll Clerks required to conduct an election, based on the recommendation of the Chief Electoral Officer."

MNS Election Regulations Section 2.2.1 directs that:

"The Chief Electoral Officer shall recommend to the Métis Election Commission appointments for all election officers based on the recommendations of the Local. The Chief Electoral Officer shall supervise and appoint for each Local where a polling station is established a Deputy Returning Officer and a Poll Clerk." (my underlining)

The President of Frenchman Butte Local #92 is listed in the MNS Local Directory (Revised April 2004) as Mr. Gordon C. Howard of Frenchman Butte. In response to a letter from the CEO dated February 19, 2004 requesting the names of a DRO and poll clerk. Mr. Howard sent in his list of voters to the Chief Electoral Officer (CEO) and phoned the CEO to let him know that he would act as DRO, and his wife Mary Gordon would act as poll clerk. Mr. and Mrs. Gordon have acted as DRO and poll clerk for several past elections and their house has been used as the polling station as, says Mr. Howard, all members of Local #92 know.

According to Mr. Howard, the CEO verbally agreed to this arrangement and apparently in the past this verbal arrangement has sufficed. Up until election day Mr. Howard believed himself and his wife to have been accepted as election officials, carrying out the duties as requested by the CEO of posting the initial voters' list up in Frenchman Butte, posting the revised voters' list up in Frenchman Butte,

and receiving membership cards to distribute to Local #92 members. The MNS Election Act Section 5.11 states that the CEO <u>shall</u> "Compile and distribute to each polling station, a final Election List, pursuant to this Act, prior to election day." This list was sent to Mr. Howard at Frenchman Butte further confirming that the polling station was to be there. When Mr. Howard received the revised voters' list he contacted the CEO by phone because of the large numbers of added voters who were unknown to him and was told by the CEO to get them to swear declarations - again confirming in Mr. Howard's mind that he was the appointed DRO.

By election day no ballot box had been received and attempts to contact the CEO were unsuccessful. Mr. and Mrs. Howard had no idea where or if a local poll was held, could not as a consequence vote themselves and as far as they know none of their members voted either.

Apparently a poll was held for Local #92 at Smokin' Lens Hotel in Paradise Hill, (a fact that did not come to light until the appeals process some months later), run by a DRO unknown to the Howard's, by name of Eric Osecap, with an address listed as Gen. Del. Frenchman Butte. This gentleman is not a member of Local #92, was not recommended to be DRO by the President of Local #92, and there is no named poll clerk in any of the records of the poll.

This appointment contradicts the MNS Election Regulations noted above under which the CEO <u>'shall</u> recommend to the Métis Election Commission appointments for all election officers based on the recommendations of the Local." (my underlining). There is no provision in the Election Act and Regulations for anyone other than the Local to recommend election officers. Mr. Osecap is not a member of Local #92, and his name does not appear on either the original or the revised voters' lists. There is a note on the final count tally sheet alleging that he is Treaty. If this is so, then he would be ineligible to act as a DRO since under the MNS Election Act Section 5.5 "... The Chief Electoral Officer must only recommend election officers that meet the requirements of Eligibility...".

Eligibility is defined in the MNS Election Act Section 6.1:

- "6. In order to participate in an election, the participant shall:
 - 6.1 Be a citizen of the Métis Nation Saskatchewan."

As regards the advertising of the location of the polling place, MNS Election Regulations Section 11 Procedures at Polls states:

- "11.1 Within ten (10) days after the nomination (of candidates) deadline, the Chief Electoral Officer will have posted in each Regional Office and within each Local a notice showing: 11.1.1 The names of the candidates nominated and
 - 11.1.2 <u>The date and time and place where polls will be open</u> for the taking of votes for the candidates nominated." (my underlinings)

One would assume that a notice of poll would have been received by the person (Mr. Howard) who was instructed to publicly post up the voters' lists. No such notice was received and as a result Local #92 members were unaware that the poll was to be elsewhere than where it had previously been held, at the home of Mr. Gordon, the president of the Local. In fact, some Local #92 members went there to vote and had to be turned away because there was no ballot box.

In the matter of the voter's list, the MNS Election Act Article 8 - Electoral List states:

- "8. The Electoral List shall:
 - 8.1 List all the Electors eligible to vote in an election.
 - 8.1.1 The electors shall be listed by Local.
 - 8.2 Be compiled by the Chief Electoral Officer from the most recent Local Citizenship Lists on file at the Métis Nation Saskatchewan Office.
 - 8.3 a) Be revised only during a publicly announced revision period. The revision period shall be between the date of the Election Proclamation and twenty days prior to election day to a maximum period of one hundred days.
 - b) The draft Electoral List shall be posted in the Regions and Locals and be accessible to all Métis citizens.
 - 8.4 Upon provision of evidence to the satisfaction of the Chief Electoral Officer, of a legitimate error or omission, a citizen can have his/her name added to, or removed from the Electoral List during the revision period."

The MNS Election Regulations Section 4 deals with revision procedures.

- "4. Revision Procedures
 - 4.1 The Chief Electoral Officer will forward to the Local Presidents a temporary Electoral List which is compiled from the Métis Local membership lists on file at the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan Registry Office. The Local Presidents will be responsible for submitting to the Chief Electoral Officer the names and contact information of any new members and

striking the names of members who have since deceased or transferred from their Local registry.

4.2 The Chief Electoral Officer will revise the temporary Electoral List and ensure that the revised Electoral List is posted in a public place in each local community."

After the initial contact from the CEO, Gordon Howard as President of Frenchman Butte Local #92 submitted a handwritten list of members that contained 56 names and addresses and it was received, typed up and returned for posting in the Local as per MNS Election Regulations Section 4.1 above. The list was duly posted up.

Some two or three days before election day, the CEO sent the revised electoral list per MNS Election Regulations Section 4.2 above. This revised list retained the 56 names on the first list but included 102 new names, none of which had been submitted by the Local President per MNS Election Regulations 4.1 above, none of which were known to the local Métis community, and all of which claimed to have postal addresses in Frenchman Butte. Under the MNS Election Act Section 8.4 quoted above, what evidence was provided to the CEO of legitimate errors or omissions to cause him to increase the Métis population of the small community of Frenchman Butte by a factor of 10? When the President of Local #92, Gordon Howard, checked with the post mistress of Frenchman Butte it transpired that not one of the 102 names had a postal address there.

The MNS Constitution Act, Article 10 - Citizenship, states the following:

- "3.2 A person shall reside in the Local for at least six (6) months before he/she is eligible for membership in that Local ...
- 4.4 Membership cards shall be issued by the President or Secretary of a duly registered Local upon completion of the designated form."

The MNS Citizenship Act, Article 4 - Registration Process states the following:

"4.2 The Métis Nation Saskatchewan Local President or Secretary must issue a card recognizing the person as Métis if they meet the requirements of this Act, but not before they are registered by the Registrar."

Clearly these 102 people whose names were added to the Local #92 voters' list had not been resident in the Local for at least six (6) months as required by MNS

Constitution Act Article 10.3.2, since they were unheard of prior to the appearance of the revised list, and their addresses were all false.

Clearly under Article 10.4.4 of the MNS Constitution Act, they were not issued memberships by the Local president and did not present the designated application forms to him in order to obtain memberships.

Clearly under Article 4.4.2 of the MNS Citizenship Act these 102 names were not registered with the Registrar as belonging to Local #92 or their citizenship cards would have been forwarded to the President of Local #92 to be issued to them which did not happen. The only membership cards the President received for distribution were to Local members on his initial voters' list.

(i) The Official Count

The tally sheet from the Official Count shows the following:

- The poll book and Oath of Secrecy were signed by the DRO but not by a poll clerk;
- 204 ballots were initially received, yet somehow 206 ballots are accounted for;
- The Regional Rep's votes add up to 58 but are reported as 59; and
- Challenges to the box include:
 - that the one voter who voted by declaration was a status Indian,
 - that all the signatures in the poll book of those having voted are "similar",
 - that the DRO is a treaty Indian,
 - the location of the ballot box was not known to all voters,
 - that "ballot improperly initialed by DRO",
 - a comment made by a scrutineer present at the Official Count about this poll book was "... half of the people that voted on there are all from Onion Lake First Nations".

Were the rules and regulations outlining the electoral process followed in Frenchman Butte Local #92?

1. The DRO was not recommended to the CEO by the president of Local #92 contrary to MNS Election Regulations Section 2.2.1. It has also been alleged (though not proved) that the DRO is a treaty Indian and therefore ineligible to be a participant in a Métis election contrary to MNS Election Act Section 6.1.

- No poll clerk appears to have been present at the poll contrary to MNS election Regulations Section 2.2.1. Since no scrutineers appear to have been present, the ballots were presumably counted solely by the DRO. (If there was a poll clerk appointed, there is no record of who it was either in the poll book or on the tally sheet).
- 3. No public notice of where the poll was to be held was posted in the Local contrary to MNS Election Regulations Section 11, thus effectively disenfranchising many who would otherwise have voted.
- 4. 102 names were added to the revised voters' list contrary to MNS Election Regulations Section 4.1; contrary to the MNS Constitution Article 10 subsections 3.2, 4.4; and contrary to MNS Citizenship Act Article 4 subsection 4.2.
- 5. There were errors of addition on the Official Count Tally Sheets.

In conclusion, are any of the irregularities summarized above sufficient to challenge the Official Election Results?

The irregularities surrounding the appointment of the DRO, while contrary to the rules and regulations noted above, would not of themselves (assuming that the DRO acted honestly and in good faith) affect the result of the voting in that poll.

The lack of public notice of where the poll was to be held was more serious, since some voters were disenfranchised as a result, but it is not possible to quantify how many voters were so affected and therefore it is not possible to predict how the posting of such a notice might have been reflected in the numbers of ballots cast for the various candidates.

The addition of the 102 suspect names to the Revised Voters' List is another matter entirely. Since one of the scrutineers present at the official count states that all the voters' signatures in the poll book were "similar', and that "half of the people that voted on there are all from Onion Lake First Nations", it would appear that some 30 voters cast ballots who were not eligible to vote in the election. This in itself would not affect the outcome of the executive and regional positions with the exception of the presidency. The winning margin in the race for the presidency province-wide was only 26 votes, and here we have perhaps some 30 ballots cast by people who were possibly ineligible to vote. Since all the votes cast in the race for the presidency in Local #92 went to Dwayne Roth, this potential irregularity in voting would reduce his winning margin by more than the 26 votes which separated him from the runner-up. An examination of the Poll Book and of the eligibility of the names of the voters who are listed as having voted therein is needed in order to verify the results of this poll. If this is not possible, then the entire poll result should be discounted.

Comments on Rebuttal Evidence Prepared for the Métis Election Commission by Med-Wolf Investigations in Answer to the Appeals of Robert Doucette and Alex Maurice

Western Region 1A - Frenchman Butte Local #92

In a letter of defense dated for some reason, April 6, 2004, some five weeks before the May 26th election, and addressed "To whom it may concern",

approached (by whom he does not say) regarding the inactivity of the Frenchman Butte Local. He states:

"My position was simply that I believe Métis have the right to vote and IF there is problems in the lack of involvement by the Local President the same one should contact the Elections Chief Electoral Officer and arrange for a DRO at the Local poll. The name of Eric Osecap was mentioned to myself. I instructed them to contact the Election's Chief Executive Officer".

A similar letter from **A similar letter from A similar letter from**

Neither of these people has any authority under MNS legislation to act in this manner. Neither of them has the authority to go behind a Local President's back, revise the Local's Voter's List by tripling its size with over 100 names of people with fictitious addresses, replace the DRO and Poll Clerk with an unknown DRO (who also gave a fictitious address), and remove the poll from Frenchman Butte and set it up at a place unknown to bona fide Local #92 voters. If they believed that all "Métis have the right to vote" as they say in the letters above, then surely they would not have kept the location of the polling place so quiet that it was not until this rebuttal evidence was presented to the MEC Appeals session that its location was discovered by most bona fide members of Local #92.

Neither Local #92 nor the DRO, Mr. Eric Osecap, were mentioned on the original list of Locals and election personnel distributed prior to the election that I can see, but in a copy sent out June 18, 2004 Local #92 is mentioned naming Eric Osecap (with his address as Gen. Del. Frenchman Butte) as DRO, no poll clerk being named. In the rebuttal evidence a hand-written receipt from Smokin' Lens Hotel in Paradise Hill states that a room was rented May 26th to Eric Osecap, who gives an address in North Battleford. A till receipt is also included but is dated June 5, 2004, nearly two weeks after the election. A person working at the hotel confirmed that there was a poll there stating that "they were all Indians that voted". Whether this term was generic or whether the person knew each vote specifically I could not ascertain. The fact that receipts had to be produced for a room in Paradise Hill to prove there was a poll there speaks eloquently to how poorly the poll was advertised.

It seems strange that **Sector** should become so concerned about the inactivity, real or perceived, of Locals so close to election time. Surely if they were that concerned they would have done something to revive Wilkie Local #132 a lot earlier than just before the election, or made enquiries in Frenchman Butte Local #92 to ascertain that it was indeed healthy and active and in no need of their attentions. Their interference in the Frenchman Butte poll has only tainted it and does not change my opinion noted above.

Wilkie Local #132

The complaints about this poll include the following:

- Wilkie Local #132 is listed as inactive and has no president;
- No notice of poll/voters' list were posted for Local #132;
- The polling place was not open from 8:00 AM to 8:00 PM; and
- Only a "few people" showed up at the polling place, yet some 150 odd ballots were deposited in the ballot box.

The appointment of the DRO and poll clerk at this poll was clearly not done according to the MNS Election Act Section 4.6 and the MNS Election Regulations Section 2.2.1 (both sections quoted above in full under Frenchman Butte).

Wilkie Local #132 is listed as "inactive" in the most recent (revised April 2004) Métis Nation Saskatchewan Local Directory. The last president of Wilkie Local #132 is said to have died two years ago and the Local has been inactive ever since. The DRO and poll clerk apparently reside either in North Battleford or Saskatoon.

Who recommended these names to the CEO, and why would he accept them for an "inactive" Local where there was no reason to establish a poll in the first place?

In the matter of advertising the location of the polling place, MNS Election Regulations Section 11.1; 11.1.1; and 11.1.2 (quoted above in full under Frenchman Butte) stipulate that within 10 days of nomination day the CEO will have posted in each Local a notice showing the date, time and place of polling. Such a notice was not posted in Wilkie for Wilkie Local #132. Further, the CEO, according to one candidate's sworn testimony, stated around Nomination Day, that no ballot boxes would be sent to Delmas, Wilkie, Hamlin and Maymont. This was repeated by the CEO to the candidate again the day before election day. Yet on election day, a poll was established in Wilkie.

Further to this, no Voters' List was posted in the Local as required by the MNS Election Act Section 8.3.(b) and no revised list of voters was posted in the Local as required by MNS Election Regulations Section 4.2.

Was the polling place open for the time period stipulated in MNS Election Regulations Section 14.6?

"14.6 Polling shall begin at 8:00 AM and close at 8:00 PM on election day."

A letter from the manager of the Wilkie Homestead Inn, where the Wilkie Poll was held, states that a room was rented for that purpose from 9:30 AM to about 5:30 PM. The polling place was therefore not open for anywhere near the hours required by Section 14.6 above.

MNS Election Regulations Section 14.2 states:

"14.2 In the event that the ballot box leaves the polling station during the hours of voting, the ballot papers within the box shall be considered invalid."

The ballots cast in this box should accordingly be rejected.

It was observed that only a "few" people visited the polling station while some 150 ballots were found in the ballot box.

In the letter from the Wilkie Homestead Inn, the manager further states that to the best of his knowledge, "only a few people showed up." I spoke on the telephone to the one person that I could discover who actually voted at the Wilkie Local #132 poll and in answer to my question as to what time of day she voted, said that it was about 1:00 PM. I further enquired as to whether she had signed the poll book and she said that she had. I asked her whether there were many signatures ahead of hers in the poll book and she said that she was the first person to sign it. We are therefore to believe that between 1:00 PM and 5:30 PM some 150 voters visited the poll which hardly jibes with the hotel managers' assertion that "only a few people showed up."

Further, scrutineers at the Official Count assert that the poll book was not signed and oaths were not taken and that the signatures of the voters in the poll book were "signed by the same person."

Also to be borne in mind is that in the last Métis election in 2001 when the Local was active, only 10 people voted - 15 times less people than voted this time when the Local was inactive.

In conclusion, are any of the irregularities summarized above sufficient to challenge the Official Election Results?

Article 7 of the MNS Constitution Act stipulates the functions and duties of Locals. Wilkie Local #132 clearly does not conform to Article 7.6; and 7.9 and is in fact listed as "inactive" in the MNS Local Directory of April 2004. As a result, no election officials could be appointed pursuant to the MNS Election Act Section 4.6 and MNS Election Regulations Section 2.2.1. No voters' list or revised voters' list were posted in the Wilkie Local pursuant to MNS Election Act Section 8.3 (b) and MNS Election Regulations Section 4.2 respectively. No notice of poll was posted during the required period detailing the date, time, and place of the poll per MNS Election Regulations Section 11.1; 11.1.1; and 11.1.2, and on election eve the CEO was reported to have said that there would be no poll in Wilkie. An eyewitness stated that "only a few people showed up" at the polling place and yet, despite all this, some 150 ballots somehow found their way into the ballot box.

The poll was not open during all the hours required by MNS Election Regulations Section 14.6 and therefore under MNS Election Regulations Section 14.2 the ballot box had left the polling station during the hours of voting and consequently "the ballot papers within the box shall be considered invalid". It is also alleged that the DRO stated that she did not count the ballots in the box, but passed it on to others and "they took care of it." Since the results counted from this ballot box gave Roth 136 and the runner-up Doucette 2 and Roth's margin of victory was 26 votes, the invalidation of the ballots counted in this poll give Doucette the presidency by over 100 votes.

Comments on Rebuttal Evidence Prepared for the Métis Election Commission by Med-Wolf Investigations in Answer to the Appeals of Robert Doucette and Alex Maurice

Western Region IA - Wilkie Local #132

The President of Bickleigh/Plato Local #170 wrote a letter stating that she had gone to the Wilkie Motel at 4:45 PM because she had heard there was a poll there, but found it closed. The Med-Wolf investigator states that she "went to the wrong place to spy on a poll that wasn't there". The poll was not at the Wilkie Motel but at the Homestead Inn, known locally as "the hotel". This Local President, who actually resides in Wilkie, went looking for a polling place said to have been established for an inactive Local at the motel, found no poll, and assumed it had closed early. It seems strange that she could not find the polling place when some 150 out-of-town voters apparently managed to, and perhaps shows how poorly the poll was advertised locally.

The letter from the manager of the Homestead Inn stated that "... a room was rented out on Wednesday, May 26th from about 9:30 AM to about 5:30 PM. To the best of my knowledge only a few people showed up ..." In a telephone conversation with myself, he sticks by this assertion and says that he commented that "they must have been bored sitting there all day with nothing to do". He also stated that "they came down to the bar about 5:30 and stayed till about 10". There is a letter from the DRO saying that the poll closed at 8:00 PM and three letters from people saying that they went to pick up the DRO and poll clerk around 8:00 PM. There is no statement as to how or at what time the election officer got to the polling place in the morning. Perhaps all these people are telling the truth as they saw it: the three people who went to pick up the DRO and poll clerk actually did arrive when they said; and the DRO and poll clerk could have left the ballot box in the room while they went to the bar assuming that it was still a polling place since the ballot box was still there. It would seem to me, however, that the hotel manager's version of events is likely the most accurate since he has no reason to manipulate the facts.

The poll in Wilkie was set up presumably at the instigation of Dave Ross. A letter from him dated July 2, 2004 and addressed "To whom it may concern" included in the Med-Wolf Investigation states the following:

"In my position as Provincial Secretary, I had many dealings with the Métis of Wilkie - Trotchies, Lennies and Pritchards. I know in the past that the Lennie's were presidents of Wilkie Local #132. I had several calls trying to organize a polling station in Wilkie for the 2004 Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Elections. I told them to contact one of the Lennie's and maybe they would be a DRO for Wilkie.

I also told them to contact the Chief Electoral Officer as I believed every Métis should have the right to vote."

On the voter's lists for Western Region IA Battle River Region, there are nine Trotchies, seven Lennies and three Pritchards listed. Of the nine Trotchies listed, eight have addresses in North Battleford and one in Lloydminster. Five of the nine Trotchies are listed as belonging to Battleford Local #106, three belong to North Battleford Local #30, and one to Border City Local #76. None have a Wilkie address or a Wilkie Local number. Of the seven Lennies listed on the Western Region IA voter's lists, all seven have North Battleford addresses and all seven are listed as members of Maymont Local #172. Of the three Pritchards listed on the Western RegionIA voter's lists, one has an address in North Battleford and belongs to Battleford Local #106, and the other two have no listed address but belong to Lloydminster Local #18. Thus of all these 19 people, 16 have addresses in North Battleford, one has an address in Lloydminster and all belong to Locals other than Wilkie Local #132. To vote at Wilkie, the seven members of the Maymont Local would have added some 30 kilometres to their round trip from North Battleford; the nine members of the North Battleford and Battleford Locals would have had to make an unnecessary round trip of 110 kilometres, and three members of Lloydminster and Border City Locals would have had to make unnecessary round trips in excess of 340 kilometres and all to vote at the Wilkie Local of which none of them were members.

Article 7 - Electors of the MNS Election Act states that:

"In order to cast a ballot in an election, an elector shall:

7.4 Vote at the polling station closest to where they are registered and ordinarily resident ...".

The Constitution of the MNS states in Article 10 - Citizenship Section 3:

"3.1 A member shall only belong to one (1) Local.

3.2 A person shall reside in the Local for at least six (6) months before he/she is eligible for membership in that Local."

I can find no reference in the MNS Constitution Act or in any MNS Election Act that gives the Provincial Secretary authority to intervene at the Local level. Further, why would a Provincial Secretary counsel members to breach Article 7 of the MNS Election Act and Article 10 of the MNS Constitution Act, in order to revive an inactive Local especially in light of their being only two Wilkie residents listed on the Western Region IA voter's lists, both of whom were already members of North Battleford Local #30.

An undated memo from Ralph Kennedy, Regional Director of Western Region IA to Isabelle Impey is also included in the Med-Wolf Investigation. It states re: Wilkie Local:

"Our region has begun working with the Wilkie members and have appointed Mr. Vern Amyotte as interim president of the Local. The Local will be having a general assembly in July 2004 to elect an executive for the Wilkie Local."

I could not find Vern Amyotte's name on any voter's list in the Western Region IA.

It is my understanding that people should reside within a 30 mile radius of a Local in order to belong to it. The voter's list which was concocted for Wilkie Local #132 had 209 names on it of people purporting to belong to Local #132. None of these names lived in Wilkie. 58 gave Battleford or North Battleford addresses, well over 30 miles away by road but just about 30 miles as the crow flies. The other 150 odd names on the voter's list all listed addresses at places (30 from Delmas, five from Denholm, nine from Maymont, 68 from Paynton, two from Sonningdale, and 37 from Speers) well over 30 miles distant as the crow flies, Speers being over 50 miles away. This makes the voter's list highly suspect. To revive an inactive Local just for an election (where in the 2001 Métis Election only ten people voted) and come up with over 200 names, none of whom live less than 30 odd miles away, and none of whom live in Wilkie, and then manage to get 150 people, over 70% of the voter's list, to turn out (one of the highest turnouts in the province) delivering a massive majority of their votes (over 85%) to the Roth/Kennedy slate is no mean feat and one which beggars belief.

I see no reason from this appeal submission to change my opinion that this ballot box should be discounted.

Denholm/Delmas Local #98 Hamlin Local #93 Marshall Local #94 Maymont Local #172

In Federal and Provincial elections the whole emphasis is to encourage every citizen to vote. It is an inclusive process. The Métis Nation Saskatchewan election is an exclusive process. It attempts to exclude everyone who is not Métis from voting, while allowing Métis citizens to cast a ballot. Thus in Provincial and Federal elections, no identification is required to vote, but in Métis elections, because of their necessarily exclusive nature, there has to be a way to identify those eligible to vote. Those who drafted the MNS Constitution Act, the MNS Citizenship Act, the MNS Election Act and the MNS Election Regulations and other Métis nation legislation recognized the need for Métis to be identifiable and organized the structure of the Métis Nation around local communities where people knew each other. Hence MNS Constitution Act, Article 7 Locals:

"7.1 The Locals shall be the basic unit of the Organization in each community."

The MNS Constitution further reinforces this idea of membership in a Local as basic to the Métis nation in Article 10 - Citizenship:

- "2. Any Métis who is a member of a duly registered Local is a member of the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan.
- 3.1 A member shall only belong to one (1) Local.
- 3.2 A person shall reside in the Local for at least six (6) months before he/she is eligible for membership in that Local.
- 4.4 Membership cards shall be issued by the President or Secretary of a duly registered Local upon completion of the designated form."

The person has to be resident in the community for at least six (6) months before being eligible to join the Local and it is the Local that vets the person's Métis identity.

The MNS Citizenship Act continues this theme of the necessity for a Métis person to gain community acceptance before becoming a member of the Métis Nation Saskatchewan.

Article 2 - Interpretation at Section 2.7 defines community:

"Métis community' shall mean the Locals as set out by the Constitution."

And then goes on to talk further on the subject in Article 3 - Community Acceptance.

- "3. In this Act:
 - 3.1 The Métis Nation Saskatchewan shall accept a person as Métis if the person ... is accepted by a Métis community and
 - 3.1.1 The person normally resides within the community or jurisdiction of the Métis Nation Saskatchewan; and
 - 3.1.2 The person expressly held him/herself out to be Métis in the community or jurisdiction.
 - 3.2 The authorized Métis Local must make its decision impartially and in good faith."

From this initial step of community acceptance grows the citizenship registration process.

Article 4 - Registration Process:

- "4.1 A person who wishes to be registered as a Métis may apply to a Métis Nation Saskatchewan Local.
- 4.2 The Métis Nation Saskatchewan Local President or Secretary must issue a card recognizing the person as Métis if they meet the requirements of this Act ...".

This concept that the Métis person's identity is tied into the Local Métis community where that person ordinarily resides and is known is continued by the MNS Election Act under Article 7 - Electors:

- "7. In order to cast a ballot in an election, an elector shall:
 - 7.2 Prior to the close of the Electoral List, transfer his/her citizenship to the Local where he/she is ordinarily resident.
 - 7.3 Be on the Electoral List on Election Day.
 - 7.4 Vote at the polling stations closest to where they are registered and ordinarily resident, pursuant to Article 7.2 of this Act. Electors may request of the Chief Electoral Officer that they be placed on the list of another polling station and such determinations shall be at the discretion of the Chief Electoral Officer. Adequate identification will have to be supplied by the elector to the election official, if such a request is made and a Declaration Form will have to be completed and signed.

Section 7.2 above then, expects Métis citizens to be ordinarily resident in the Local in which they seek to vote and to transfer to that Local in order to do so if they have moved their ordinary residence. They will then be included on that Local's Electoral List on election day. They are then expected to vote at the Local polling station closest to where they are registered and ordinarily resident and therefore by inference, known to the Local Métis community.

Article 8 of the MNS Election Act goes on to speak of Electoral Lists.

Article 8 - Electoral List:

- "8. The Electoral List shall:
 - 8.1 List all of the Electors eligible to vote in an election.
 - 8.1.1 The Electors shall be listed by Local.
 - 8.2 Be compiled ... from the most recent Local Citizenship Lists ...".

All of the above goes to underline the fact that the MNS Constitution Act, MNS Citizenship Act and MNS Election Act expect a Métis citizen to vote in the Local Métis community where he/she is ordinarily resident and in which Local Métis community he/she is known.

MNS Election Act Section 7.6 contains a "notwithstanding" clause which allows someone who has been left off the Electors List of their Local to be allowed to vote upon showing a MNS citizenship card and signing a declaration.

"7.6 Notwithstanding s.7.3 a member/citizen who has been missed from inclusion on the Electoral List upon the signing of a Declaration Form, accompanied by producing his/her Métis Nation - Saskatchewan membership/citizenship card shall be added to the Electoral List and allowed to vote."

This clause is quite tightly written and would apply perhaps to a citizen ordinarily resident in the Local in which they seek to vote, who has been missed from inclusion perhaps, for example, because they had recently turned 16 years of age and were voting for the first time.

A Métis voter then, should vote in the Local Métis Community where they are "ordinarily resident". A fake postal address does not make a voter "ordinarily resident". The postmistress at Maymont could not identify any of the 89 names on the voter's list that gave a Post Office Box or General Delivery address in Maymont. None of the 20 names on the Maymont voter's list giving a Post Office Box or

General Delivery address in Ruddell were known to the postmistress there. This means that there were at least 106 persons on the Maymont Local #172 Electoral List who were not "ordinarily resident" in the Maymont Local.

At the village of Marshall the postmistress could not identify over 30 of the 35 or so names giving an address as General Delivery Marshall - indeed there is no General Delivery at Marshall since all those using that post office are box holders and a general delivery service is not provided.

Hamlin is not on the road map of Saskatchewan published by MapArt Publishing, nor is it listed in that map's index. There is an elevator there, but no post office according to Canada Post, and so it is hard to believe that the entire voter's list of 54 names have an address as General Delivery, Hamlin, Sask. Canada Post North Battleford says that there is no address General Delivery Hamlin, and that Rural Route 3 covers the Hamlin area. Further, every address on the Hamlin Electoral List has the same postal code of S9A 2A7. Canada Post North Battleford affirms that postal code S9A 2A7 covers the odd numbers of the 900 block of 108th Street, North Battleford. These addresses are patently false and can therefore not be ordinary residences as the names on the voter's list claim. Hamlin Local #93 is a mystery: apparently it has no bona fide members and therefore no eligible voters, and so this ballot box with its 37 votes should be discounted.

There are 37 names on the voter's list for Wilkie Local #132 that claim to have postal addresses many kilometres away in Speers. None of these 37 names actually have a postal address in Speers according to the post mistress there.

The 102 names added to the revised Frenchman Butte electoral list all have a Frenchman Butte general delivery or post office box number and none of them are known at the post office there.

I did not have time to check every address on the voter's lists for the Western Region IA region but those I checked above show some 330 fake addresses. Some of the unsuccessful candidates checked addresses and alleged that they found people supposedly living in conditions as varied as ball diamonds in Lloydminster and Bowling Alleys in the Battlefords.

In summation, a voter giving a fictitious address is not an eligible voter. How many such ineligible voters would appear in the poll books of the Western Region IA as

having voted would become clear if the poll books were produced for examination. In all probability there would be more than enough to controvert the election.

The other problem with this region is the numbers of voters listed as living in one area but supposedly belonging to a Local far away. For instance, of the 33 people listed as living in Meota, 23 of them claim to be members of Maymont Local #172 which is over 100 kilometres distant. Of the 57 voters at Delmas, 30 say they are members of Wilkie Local #132, a good 80 or more kilometres away (when Paynton and the Battlefords are less than half that distance). I will not go on to list all of the anachronisms of address and Local in the Western Region IA for there are far too many: suffice it to say that the MNS Election Act Section 7.2 which states that an elector shall vote at the polling station closest to where they are registered and ordinarily resident was obeyed far more in the breach than in the observance.

A final comment concerns statistics. It can be seen from the following table that in Western Region IA the small rural communities of Denholm, Hamlin, Marshall, Maymont, Frenchman Butte and Wilkie had a voter turnout four times higher than that in the cities of that region.

	Local #	R. Doucette	A. Maurice	D. Roth	Total Votes Cast	Number of Voters on Voter's List	% Voter Turnout
Rural Polls							
Denholm/Delmas	98	11	6	125	142	250 (est.)*	56% (est
Hamlin	93	0	1	36	37	54	68%
Marshall	94	3	6	74	83	127	65%
Maymont	172	7	7	179	193	358	54%
Frenchman Butte	92	0	0	60	60	158	38%
Wilkie	132	2	13	135	150	209	72%
		23	33	609	665	1,160 (est.)	57% (est.)
		3%	5%	92%			
City Polls							
Lloydminster	18	6	34	2	42	221	19%
Border City	76	0	14	2	16	209	8%
North Battleford	30	8	12	31	51	451	11%
Battleford	106	1	5	10	16	32	50%
Paynton**	142	8	5	5	18	79	23%
		23	70	50	143	992	14%
		16%	49%	35%			

* I have not been able to find a voter's list for this poll

** Payton is included with the cities because there are no complaints laid against it and its voting pattern fits the norm rather than the odd.

Why would people drive or be driven such distances when in most cases they could have, or rather should have, voted much closer to home? Why were certain candidates mislead as to where and whether or not polls were to be set up in these communities? A substance admitted deliberately lying about the whereabouts of his Local poll to one particular candidate and sending her scrutineers on a wild goose chase justifying it on the grounds that

and why should he give information

to the enemy. He then, signed one of his own pro-forma letters which said:

"To whom this may concern:

My name is _____, I voted in Maymont Local for the Métis Nation -Sask. election on May 26, 2004. I had absolutely no problems finding the Maymont polling station. My local President has always kept me informed."

Signature, Address, Phone Number"

He also in the same Med-Wolf investigation produced a photo of a hand-drawn sign with an arrow pointing across a street which read, "Vote Here", as proof that there was a polling station in Maymont on election day. Like a DRO would take along a camera to take such a picture? Surely a photo of the Notice of Poll at the polling station would have been better proof if in fact the photo was taken that day.

Combine this deceit over where or if these rural polls were to be established presumably to prevent opposition scrutineers from finding them, the peculiarities of the voter's lists involved and the dubious eligibility of those that voted, with the massive majority of votes (92% for one candidate as compared to his 35% city vote) and the motive behind all this manipulation becomes clear.

I feel that these six rural polls of Denholm, Hamlin, Marshall, Maymont, Frenchman Butte and Wilkie have so flouted the Métis Nation legislation to which they are subject that they are all tainted and should be thrown out unless the poll books are produced for examination. I feel certain that an examination of the poll books would show far more ineligible votes cast than the margin of victory of Roth over Doucette.

Western Region II

Prince Albert Local #7

The complaints are mainly in the area of the voter's list, the disposition of ballots after a scrutineer's challenge, membership cards, code of conduct in a polling place, and displaying campaign material outside a polling place.

The biggest single problem for Local #7 was the revised voter's list. A 52-page voter's list was sent in by the Local president, acknowledged by the Registrar's Office, acknowledged by Mr. Bourassa the CEO's assistant that it was in his hands, but the list sent in the ballot box on election day was the old 42-page list used, I believe, at the 2001 election. Ten pages of people who had joined Local #7 since 2001, or transferred from other Locals, were missing from the voter's list on election day. Further, with over 2000 members, Local #7 so far has received only some 300 citizenship cards, according to the Local President.

Thus a situation arose where many members' names were left off the list, and with few membership cards issued, declarations could not be made. It is estimated by some that as many as 150 voters were turned away that day from the Local #7 polling place.

A further 153 ballot papers were challenged at the Official Count as having been initialed by a person other than the DRO. These were apparently placed in a separate envelope at the Official Count and therefore dealt with appropriately it would seem.

The use of foul and abusive language at the polling station should have been dealt with by the DRO under the MNS Election Act Section 12 dealing with peace and good order in the polling place. Such conduct, while reprehensible, would not likely have affected how voters cast their ballots and so should not impact the results of the poll.

The presence of more than one scrutineer for a candidate at a polling station, while contrary to the MNS Election Regulations Section 13.2 which sets the limit of one scrutineer per candidate, again would not in itself have affected the poll results and so, while irregular, should not have the effect of tainting this poll.

As regards the allegation that a vehicle was parked near the polling place displaying a sign encouraging voters to vote for a particular candidate, nothing in the MNS Election Act or MNS Election Regulations forbids this. The MNS Election Regulations at Section 15.2 states:

"No campaign material, literature or activity shall be permitted <u>within</u> <u>the polling station</u> ...". (My underlining)

The MNS Election Act and MNS Election Regulations are silent as regards such activity outside, or within a certain distance of the polling place. However the CEO, in his Instructions to DRO's and poll clerks states:

"...No candidates posters and/or campaigning allowed outside or inside the polling building or within 30 meters."

Although such prohibitions are common to provincial and federal election legislation, I can find no such admonition in the MN-S Election Act and Regulations. Thus although I agree with the CEO's instruction in its spirit, it is not the letter of MNS legislation and is therefore not binding and certainly not something which is sufficient to taint a poll result.

The final complaint deals with challenges that scrutineers might have made to persons voting whom they considered ineligible. This complaint is common to many of the appeals and general complaints submitted and so must be examined in detail.

The duties and allowable activities of a scrutineer are alluded to in the MN-S Election Act section 10 which states in part:

- "10. Scrutineers shall:
 - 10.4 Have been appointed by their candidate to represent him/her at that polling station, and to observe the election procedures on his/her behalf ... (My underlining)
 - 10:5 Not impede, prevent, or otherwise interfere in any way with the free exercise of the elector's right to vote or in any way compel, induce or prevail on an elector to vote or to refrain from voting."

This section would seem to suggest that the scrutineer is supposed to be a more or less passive observer of the proceedings.

However, the MNS Election Regulations Section 29 states:

- "29.2 The poll book shall contain a column for remarks by election officers.
- 29.3 The election officer shall make a note in the poll book of every objection to a ballot paper by a scrutineer and the officer's decision shall be final and binding on the count."

The intention of Section 29.3 above was likely to have been a directive to the DRO to make a note in the poll book of scrutineers' challenges to voters whom they perceived as ineligible, following on as it does from Section 29.2. It makes absolutely no sense otherwise.

The CEO's instructions to DRO's and poll clerks states:

"... Everything done in the election should be recorded by poll clerks and Deputy Returning Officers including objections by scrutineers."

"Objections" to voters or ballots is again not made clear.

The confusion seems to stem from the use of the word "objection". If a scrutineer wishes to raise a question as to the eligibility of a person wishing to vote at a provincial election, it is termed a challenge, and the DRO must ask the challenged voter to complete a declaration in order to vote (whether or not their name appears on the voter's list) and if the voter completes the declaration the ballot goes into the ballot box. The DRO would make a note of the challenge in the poll book. An "objection" might be raised by a scrutineer at the count regarding the acceptability of the marking on a ballot.

The MNS Election Act and MNS Election Regulations are silent on the matter of challenges by scrutineers except as noted above. The suggestion that the ballots of persons whom scrutineers challenged be placed in a separate envelope by the DRO, rather than in the ballot box, is completely unacceptable for the reason that in the event that only one person was challenged, the secrecy of that person's ballot would be breached. Similarly, if a number of voters were challenged and their ballots placed in an envelope, if they all happened to vote the same way, their ballots would no longer be secret.

Thus the complaint that challenged voters' ballots were not placed in a separate envelope are groundless. However, some mechanism should be included in the MNS election legislation to deal with how challenges should be handled in order to avoid confusion in future. There were irregularities at Prince Albert Local #7 poll, but the irregularities were in the main such as to prevent otherwise eligible voters from voting. It is not possible to quantify how many people were prevented from voting or how their votes, had they been cast, might have affected the results. It is certainly no reason to disqualify the votes of those who did vote.

Timberland Local #121 (Shellbrook)

In the MNS Local Directory (revised April 2004) the president of Local #121 is listed as Peter Arcand along with his Debden address and phone number. Local #121 has approximately 225 members according to the president. According to one complainant, when talking to the CEO the day before election day, the CEO stated that Timberland Local #121 would not be receiving a ballot box as he did not know who the president was. Later that day he stated that Timberland Local #121 would have a ballot box but that it would be located in Debden at Debden's polling station. On the day of the election, residents of Shellbrook (Local #121) drove to Debden to vote, only to be told they did not have the Timberland (Shellbrook) ballot box. As a result none of the members of the Shellbrook Local voted that day.

Peter Arcand was elected President of Timberland Local #121 on February 13, 2004 and all necessary documents and information was sent in to the MNS. The president stated that he later discovered that the ballot box for Shellbrook Local #121 was sent to Leask to Roy Frederick's house (he being a past president of Local #121) and that the three votes in the box were of Roy Frederick and his family. I do not have access to any tally sheet or poll book for Shellbrook but have no reason to doubt President Arcand's word.

Here is another case of a large number of people, some 225, being deprived of their right to vote either deliberately or through ineptness. Again, one cannot quantify the number of voters who would have voted given the chance, or know how they would have voted. It does however seriously compromise the overall results of the election.

Victoire Local #129

The complaints here concern the location of the poll said to have been some 50 kilometres from the town of Victoire and the number of people on the voter's list not resident in the region. I could not find an accurate map of the Regions/Locals and without access to the tally sheet and poll book, I cannot see who or how many people voted so I can make no comment on this poll.

Prince Albert Local #269

It is alleged that at the Official count over 4000 ballots were found in this box of which 1300 of the unused ballots had been pre-signed by the DRO on election day. This may not have influenced the results of the election but is certainly testament to the laxity of the CEO's control over the handling and distribution of ballots.

Western Region IIA

Cando Local #36 Outlook #155

Complaints have centered around the voters' list, the large number of voters, and the whereabouts of the ballot box between close of poll and final count, and the consequent late count of the ballots. (This latter complaint also includes the Outlook Local #155 ballot box.)

Cando is a very small and isolated village situated just off the #4 Highway, halfway between North Battleford and Biggar, both some 45 kilometres distant. I was told that in 1999, when the current president was first elected, some 10 Métis people attended the meeting and 21 Métis people were identified and listed as living in the village and a large area surrounding it. Present estimates of the number of Métis people in and around Cando have shrunk to 8 or 9, as many people have moved away.

Nevertheless, the official electoral list used at the Cando poll on election day managed to list 71 names. Of these, 45 were known to local Métis people. Of these known 45 Métis people, one person (who had died three years previously) was listed twice; one person (who had moved to Alberta over two years ago) was listed three times. Of the remaining 40 names on the list, 12 were residents of North Battleford which is not located in Western Region 11A; of the remaining 28, three had been dead for a considerable time; of the remaining 25, five live in Alberta, one lives in Ontario and has for at least 20 years, five live in Saskatoon, one lives in Lloydminster, two are alleged to be status Indians, and one was in prison. Thus out of the 71 names on the Official Voters' List, only 10 were names known to local Métis people as available to vote.

Of the 71 names on the official electoral list, 26 appear in the poll book as having voted. Of these 26 names, 14 have either stated that they did <u>not</u> vote at the Cando poll on that day or are known not to have voted. Of the 12 names from the official electoral list that appear in the poll book as having voted, only five people are known in the local community as eligible voters, the other seven are unknown to local people.

However, despite there being only 10 names on the official electoral list that local Métis people considered available to vote, 93 names actually appear in the poll book

as having voted at the Cando poll! Even if it is assumed that all 12 people on the official electoral list whose names appear in the poll as having voted, actually voted, this still leaves 81 people who would have had to make a special journey all the way to Cando to vote.

I am the first to admit that the village of Cando is not without its charms, its very isolation being one of them, yet I fail to see the exercise of these as being a sufficiently powerful magnet to attract 81 people to its village hall on that day. Further, no unusual vehicular traffic was noticed by residents of the village. Apparently a mass of people sufficient to almost double the village population managed to arrive and depart unnoticed to vote at a hall overlooked by several houses. This, however, could not have been a surprise to the DRO since with only 15 of the 71 voters on the official electoral list possibly requiring declaration forms his prescience allowed him to furnish the 60 voters who signed declarations that day with the necessary documents. Such attention to detail is perhaps surprising in light of the fact that the voters were not allowed to sign the poll book themselves but had their names printed in for them.

No notice of the date, time and place of polling was posted up in Cando Local within 10 days of Nomination Day as required by MNS Election Regulations Section 11.1 and 11.1.2. No voters' list was posted in Cando Local pursuant to MNS Election Act Section 8.3.(b), neither was a revised voters' list posted pursuant to MNS Election Regulations Section 4.2.

The poll itself was a half hour or so late in opening, although this was due to the custodian of the hall living some miles out of town and not remembering that it was booked for that day. This apparent irregularity can thus be excused and no charge under MNS Election Regulations Section 14.2 of its being a "travelling" ballot box should be levied. However, the box does seem to have "wandered" after close of poll as results were late in being phoned in and the box did not appear for a number of days before the final count, according to several people. The ballot box from Outlook Local #155 (also in Western Region IIA) was also late in reporting and was also missing for a while by all accounts.

When the initial poll-by poll results for Western Region IIA were first published, they did not include Cando or Outlook. There was no final poll-by-poll result published to my knowledge, but when the tally sheets from the final count are tallied for Western Region IIA, they include Cando and Outlook and the difference can be seen in the table below.

			Difference	Canda	Quitleali	Tatal
	WRIIA	WRIIA	Difference	Cando	Outlook	Total
	Initial	from	Initial Count	Tally Sheet	Tally Sheet	Cando
	Poll-by-Poll	Tally Sheets	Tally Sheets			+ Outlook
<u>President</u>						
R. Doucette	522	533	+11	15	1	16
A. Maurice	68	91	+23	17	0	17
D. Roth	192	278	+86	60	21	81
Total	782	902	+120	92	22	114
<u>Area Rep</u>						
H. Cummings	158	233	+75	49	22	71
V. Polsfut	267	275	+8	16	0	16
K. Crane	107	117	+10	6	0	6
D. Parenteau	100	107	+7	5	0	5
W. Trotchie	133	153	+20	16	0	16
Total	765	885	+120	92	22	(114)
			\bigcirc			\bigcirc

The difference between the initial count done on election night, and the tally sheets from the final count is some 120 votes. The total ballots cast at Cando and Outlook come to some 114. This would seem to prove that the ballot boxes from both Cando Local #36 and Outlook Local #155 were indeed not counted on election night and were in fact not counted until the final count some days later. (The discrepancy of six votes can be accounted for by the fact that the counting and additions of the results were full of inaccuracies.)

In conclusion, are the irregularities surrounding the Cando and Outlook ballot boxes sufficient to challenge the official election results?

Taking Cando first, it has been noted that the poll was not advertised nor the electoral lists displayed pursuant to the directives of the MNS Election Act and the MNS Election Act Regulations. Although few people in Cando were aware of the poll being held there, some 90 persons are supposed to have come from far and wide to vote. If these 90 people actually voted then many were guilty of personation and a study of the poll book would doubtless show a sufficient number to overcome the winning margin of Roth over Doucette and thus to precipitate a new election. If these 90 odd individuals did not vote, then the ballot box was in all likelihood stuffed at some point during its disappearance after close of poll. The Outlook ballot box which also disappeared after close of poll is also a candidate for having been stuffed. However, one would again need to see the poll book before being able to fully justify such assertions, but if the poll books are not available, then these two polls should be discounted.

Scott Local #112

To my knowledge there was only one complaint about this poll, but it was investigated since there were 27 names on the voters' list, 27 votes were cast, and all 27 votes were cast for the same candidate.

The poll was held at the home of the President of Scott Local who lives in Wilkie. She offered herself as DRO and her daughter as poll clerk, but an alternate poll clerk unrelated to her was requested and she named a non-relative to the position who was duly appointed. The voters' list sent in by the president contained 27 names and was returned to her unchanged and no names were added during the revision process. On election day 27 people on the voters' list voted, one of whom was listed on the Ruthilda Local #105 voters' list and voted at that Local, not at Scott, and one person who voted was not on the list but swore a declaration. After an in-depth interview with the DRO I was satisfied that the election was run smoothly and well from the delivery of the ballot box to its return. As far as everyone voting the same way is concerned, I was told that only one candidate made contact with the Local, and since the other candidates were unknown entities, the voters opted for the candidate they knew something about.

Without access to the poll book, I must conclude that this poll result is valid even though statistically suspicious.

Saskatoon - CUMFI Local #165

The complaints against this poll are two-fold, the issuing of membership cards on election day, and the activities of a candidate outside the polling station allegedly seeking support from those entering to vote.

In the matter of the membership cards it is readily admitted by Local #165 members that this was done. However, the cards were not "issued" in the sense of having been issued on that day purely for voting purposes. The membership cards had been received by the Local over the months previous to the election but those members to whom they had been issued had not yet been in to pick them up. On the day of the Election, since the polling place was across the street from the Local #165 office, many people took the opportunity to pick up their cards. Since the MNS Registrar was issuing membership cards to Locals a few days prior to the Election, presumably for people properly registered as citizens in the appropriate time frame, I

see no difference in the two situations and see no reason for censure of Local #165 for distributing these cards.

One candidate was alleged to have entered the polling station on three separate occasions and was asked to leave after each visit by the DRO and he did so. However it was the DRO from Local #11 who alleges this.

The same candidate is alleged to have been talking to voters outside the polling station on three occasions during the day but while ill-advised, this is not precluded under the MNS Election Act or Regulations. The same complainant alleges that the candidate "offered to pay at least some of the voters \$20.00 if they would vote for him". On investigation I find this to be a malicious nonsense and the fact that it is so carefully worded underlines my assessment.

As to the letter purported to have been written by the DRO for Local #11 about miscellaneous infringements that occurred at the Local #165 poll and retained by the CEO and not shared with the candidates, I find this a most peculiar complaint since only the CEO knows the contents of this letter and it was written by an election official not in attendance at the Local #165 poll. If there were any such further "infringements" they would surely have been reported by the election officials and/or scrutineers at that polling place. Since none were so reported by them and there is nothing noted on the tally sheet, this letter, if it exists, should not be of any consideration.

I see no reason why the results of this poll should be questioned.

Saskatoon - Gabriel Dumont Local #11

This complaint in this instance is made against the **second** of Local #11, **second** who is alleged to have issued old MNS cards to people not entitled to vote in order to get them to vote. This is a very different situation to that which occurred at the CUMFI Local #165 poll where cards that had been properly issued through the MNS Registrar in the appropriate time frame were simply picked up by members who had not for whatever reason gotten around to picking them up in the weeks and months before the election.

The MNS Citizenship Act, Article Four - Registration Process states:

"4.2 The Métis Nation - Saskatchewan Local President or Secretary must issue a card recognizing the person as Métis if they meet the requirements of this Act, <u>but not before they are registered by</u> <u>the Registrar</u>". (My underlining)

The MNS Citizenship Act at Article Six - Central Registry goes on to say:

"6.7.4 In the event that the Registrar accepts the registration, the Registrar forwards a signed standardized Métis Nation Saskatchewan Citizenship Card to the Métis Local President or Secretary who when issues the standardized Métis Nation Saskatchewan Citizenship Card to the person."

The MNS Election Act, Section 3 states:

"3.6 All granting of new Citizenship Cards to the Métis Nation -Saskatchewan shall be suspended from the date of the close of the Electoral List until the day after the general election is held."

By issuing membership cards to people not registered by the Registrar, has contravened the MNS Citizenship Act Section 4.2. Contravened the MNS Citizenship Act Section 6.7.4 by issuing old membership cards signed by himself and not the new standardized MNS citizenship cards signed by the Registrar. Contravened the MNS Election Act Section 3.6 by giving out membership cards during the period after the close of the electoral list and before the day after election day.

How many such cards were distributed is not known (I have personally seen four such cards, signed and numbered by **Exercise**, but not yet distributed), but there are two documented cases of persons who had not applied for citizenship and were not on the voter's list, receiving such cards and at least one of them voting. Strangely enough this person was allowed to vote at Local #11 by the same who made allegations against Local #165.

Also by strange coincidence, one of the complainants who took issue with Local #165's allowing people to legally pick up their properly issued cards, was **Example**, who was busily contravening MNS legislation in this regard by illegally issuing cards himself. How many such illegal cards were issued and how many ineligible people voted as a result is not quantifiable without access to the poll book for this poll, and even then it may not be possible to determine exactly. However, his actions have certainly tainted the results of this poll.

Western Region III

Riel Métis Council of Regina (RMCR) Local #110

Complaints have centered in the main on the voter's list, conflict of interest of electoral officials, and discrepancies between the unofficial (i.e., election night) and official count totals.

RMCR Local #110 allege that they had great difficulty in getting their new memberships co-signed by the area director and in getting their revised voter's list accepted by the CEO. I could find nothing in the MNS Citizenship Act or any other MNS legislation that requires the Regional Director to be part of the citizenship registration process. Since the problem is not peculiar to Regina, perhaps the necessity for the co-signature should be reconsidered. The voter's list, in its final form, accepted only after considerable effort by the RMCR, was not fully satisfactory as it is alleged that many new members were not added and some old members were omitted.

Many complaints from across the province deal with conflict of interest of electoral officials. It is alleged that in many cases, election officials were wives, relatives, or friends of candidates. While such relationships may give the appearance of a conflict of interest, they are not spoken of as such in the MNS Election Act. The MNS Election Act deals with the subject in Article 13 - Conflict of Interest, but it is a tightly written section that deals exclusively with the matter only as it applies to the Election Commissioners and the Chief Electoral Officer. Article 13 states:

- "13. In this Act:
 - 13.1 The Commissioner and the Chief Electoral Officer shall not be in a Conflict of Interest respecting their duties:
 - 13.2 Conflict of Interest will exist when:
 - 13.2.1 An immediate family member is a candidate or employee or official in the election. An immediate family member is defined as father, mother, stepfather, stepmother, foster parent, brother, sister, spouse (including a common law spouse), ward, father-in-law, mother-in-law or relative permanently residing with an election official.
 - 13.2.2 Any close personal or business associate is a candidate or employee or official in the election.
 - 13.3 In such a case where a commissioner or Chief Electoral Officer are in Conflict of Interest, he/she will be required to:

- 13.3.1 Reveal his/her interest in or in connection to the candidate, employee or official; and
- 13.3.2 Shall tender his/her written resignation from the Commission or as Chief Electoral Officer as the case may be."

The subject of Conflict of Interest is also mentioned under MNS - Election Act Article 5 - Chief Electoral Officer which states:

- "5. The Chief Electoral Officer shall:
 - 5.5 Recommend to the Métis Elections Commission for appointment all election officers and other required personnel. The Chief Electoral Officer must only recommend election officers that meet the requirements of Eligibility, Code of Conduct and Conflict of Interest provisions pursuant to this Act ...".

Section 5.5 it would seem, allows the CEO to check out the election officers to make sure that the CEO and Election Commissioners will not fall foul of Article 13 above by appointing an election official who might put them (the CEO and/or Commissioner) in a Conflict of Interest situation.

The Conflict of Interest sections of the MNS Election Act therefore are restricted to the relationships of the CEO and Election Commissioners and apply to no one else. Thus there can be no charges of electoral officials being in a Conflict of Interest save with the CEO and Election Commissioner.

As to the complaint about the discrepancy between the unofficial count on election night and the official count it is alleged that on the unofficial count on election night, when all the boxes had been counted for WRIII, the results for the regional director's race were different to those recorded at the final count as follows:

	Albert Delaire	Karen Laroque	Marvin Zellner
Election Night	219	183	91
Official Count	<u>319</u>	<u>182</u>	<u>92</u>
Difference	+100	-1	+1

An addition of the tally sheets at the official count show the figures for the official count to be correct and one must assume that the election night figure for Delaire of

219 is a misprint rather than anything more sinister.

However, the figures for the presidential race as registered at RMCR Local #110 do show a serious error as follows:

	Robert Doucette	Alex Maurice	Dwayne Roth
Election Night	162	76	143
Official Count	<u>125</u>	<u>76</u>	<u>138</u>
	-37	0	-5
Official Count			
Tally Sheet (my addition)	164	76	145
Official Count Figure	<u>125</u>	<u>76</u>	<u>138</u>
	-39	0	-7

The figures for both Doucette and Roth are added wrongly and should read Doucette 164, Maurice 76, Roth 145. This wrong addition at the Official Count deprives Doucette of 39 votes and Roth of 7. Since Roth took the presidential race by only 26 votes and Doucette picks up a difference of 32 votes over Roth here, then Doucette should have been declared the winner had the votes been tallied accurately.

Swift Current Local #35 Regina Beach Local #29 Maple Creek Local #12/14

Swift Current Local #35, in a fax and a registered letter sent their membership list containing 95 names and addresses in to MNS Head Office on January 12, 2004. In the letter, they state, "... We realize that a provincial election will be coming up and we require all information. We do not wish to be excluded from this process. Due to the unavailability of our Area Director and his failure to communicate any information to our executive ...". After several attempts to contact the CEO they finally succeeded and were told that a ballot box would be sent to Swift Current. On election day, when no ballot box arrived, they contacted the CEO again who then told them that Swift Current Local should go and vote in Maple Creek. As Swift Current is an hour and a half away by road, the result was that Swift Current Local #35 was disenfranchised.

Had any Swift Current members made the journey to Maple Creek they would probably not have been able to find the polling place anyway since it was poorly advertised and held in a private home. One local Maple Creek voter alleges that she spent all day trying to find the polling place, and when she did locate it she was barred from entering the house.

The Regina Beach Local #29 members were told to go and vote in Regina, a good half hour away.

It would appear that the problems in this area stem in the main from an ongoing conflict between the Regional Director and some of the Locals. As a result he has apparently dissolved Maple Creek Local #12 and admitted a new Maple Creek Local #14, and has interfered with the president's standings in Regina Beach and Swift Current. RMCR Local #110 has also apparently fallen foul of him. The region is therefore in something of a stew with the result that many Métis citizens were denied the right to vote.

Eastern Region IIA

Yorkton Local #13

There were many complaints from Myles Pelletier, a candidate for Regional Director, and those that scrutineered for him about conflict of interest and about alleged irregularities at the poll. There is not space here to deal with all of them so I will deal with the main ones.

Myles Pelletier believes that a conflict of interest existed between Mr. Gilbert Pelletier, Senator, and head of the Métis Election Commission, and himself as candidate, because they are first cousins. Article 13, Conflict of Interest, of the MNS Elections Act at Section 13.2 states that a conflict of interest will exist for a commissioner when an immediate family member is a candidate. It goes on to list immediate family but makes no mention of first cousins. I therefore see no conflict of interest here. As to the allegation that Senator Pelletier encouraged another candidate to run against Myles Pelletier, this is a matter not covered under the Election Act and is, if true, more a matter of propriety than regulation.

The complaints about irregularities at the poll are directed in the main against the DRO. He is alleged to have opened the ballot box ahead of time, which he readily admits, since he wanted to check that everything needed for election day was there. The only thing he photocopied was a sheet from the CEO headed "Important Notice", "Attention Deputy Returning Officers, Poll Clerks, Scrutineers and Candidates", a copy of which he gave to the appropriate persons. Although the ballot box should not have been opened prior to the opening of the poll on election day, it was done in good faith, in a very secure facility, and I cannot see that it could have affected the election result in any way.

Another complaint alleges that the ballots were not counted when the poll opened and consequently the number of ballots contained in the ballot box was unknown. There is no requirement either under the MNS Election Act or Regulations, or in the CEO's directive, that such a count be made. (If the ballots had been sequentially numbered the number of ballots could easily have been seen.)

The scrutineers admitted that they made a typing mistake in saying that the DRO moved the ballot box into a polling booth during the day. He did not.

Another complaint is that some voters were given Western Region III ballots instead of Eastern Region IIA. The DRO explained that one book of ballots had a mix of the two regions and five people voted on those ballots. Four of these ballots were deposited in the ballot box before the mistake was noted, the voters were re-issued the proper ballot and the four WRIII ballots were pulled at the count at the end of the day and put into a separate envelope. One other person who voted on a WRIII ballot insisted that in order to preserve the secrecy of his ballot, the DRO destroy it before his eyes which the DRO did, and not having anywhere to dispose of it stuck the shreds in his pocket for later destruction. Again, this latter action is not strict protocol but under the circumstances understandable and excusable.

The scrutineers complained that the voters they contested were allowed to vote and their ballots placed in the ballot box rather than in a separate envelope. The proper response to such challenges is to make a note in the poll book (which was done) but since in all other respects the voters met the requirements, their ballots were treated correctly. If a challenged voter's ballot had to be put in an envelope and not in the ballot box, if only one voter was so challenged, or all voters so challenged voted the same way, it would readily be apparent which way they had voted and so the secrecy of their ballots would be compromised.

The discrepancy between the 206 votes cast and the 201 votes at the count at close of poll is explained by the five wrong region ballots noted above.

It is readily admitted by the DRO that voters did not sign the poll book because he felt there was not room and if only signatures were entered, names may not be legible. The poll clerk therefore entered the voters' names and the voters were asked to sign the voter's list next to their name. Since having voters sign the electoral list against their name, rather than signing the poll book, still achieves the purpose served by the actual signing of the poll book, and the electoral list containing the signatures was sealed in the ballot box at the end of the day along with the poll book, although highly irregular, I see no real problem here, and certainly not one that would affect the results of the poll.

Thus although irregularities did occur, I do not find them of sufficient import to have affected the poll results in any way. I feel that the poll was run in a sensible and responsible manner and see no reason for its results to be questioned.

Northern Region II

La Loche Local #39

Complaints against the results of this poll include questions as to a candidate's eligibility to run for office; appointment of election officials; the revised voter's list; the opening of the ballot box prior to election day; and the use of a video camera in the polling place.

The complaint regarding the candidate's eligibility is two-fold: first on the grounds of residency under MNS Elections Act Section 9.1.4, and second on the grounds of proving a clean criminal record under MNS Elections Act sections 9.1.3 and 9.1.5.

As regards residency, the MNS Election Act Section 9.1.4 states:

"... If seeking to be a candidate for Regional Representative, is <u>ordinarily resident</u> in the region for which he/she seeks nomination ...". (my underlining)

The phrase "ordinarily resident" has been defined many times over the years to settle disputes in provincial and federal elections. This candidate lives in La Loche, commutes to Saskatoon during the week in order to work, but returns home to La Loche on weekends, has his mailing address there, voted in the provincial election there, etc. I feel it is clear that he considers La Loche his home and that any court would so decide.

The complaint regarding MNS Election Act section 9.1.3 and 9.1.5 (which could possibly be challenged under human rights legislation) which require that a candidate has been neither convicted of nor charged with an indictable offence in the last five years could easily be resolved by a CIPC record check, something which probably all candidates should undergo if these sections are to be kept in the MN-S Election Act.

As far as I can ascertain, the DRO and poll clerk names were submitted to and accepted by the CEO, by the President of the Local in the accepted manner and I see no grounds for complaint here.

The opening of the ballot box, the revised voter's list arriving on election day, and the video taping incidents all follow one from another.

The ballot box was dropped off in La Loche by the CEO's messenger a few days before the election, but at the wrong house. When the Local President heard of this he went to pick up the ballot box and found a party in progress at the house. He therefore decided to open the ballot box to make sure the contents were unharmed. When he did this he found that the voter's list therein did not include the names of students who had come of voting age in the years since the 2001 election which had been submitted as revisions to the original list. He phoned the CEO about the absent list and was told by him to reseal the ballot box immediately which he did, and that the revised list would be sent forthwith. He phoned the CEO daily until election day asking for and being promised this list of revisions. The revised list (signed by the CEO) that included the students was finally faxed on election day arriving in the afternoon. It was copied and copies given to election officials and scrutineers as well as being posted on the wall. Students who came to vote after school were therefore enabled to do so. The matter of the late arrival of the revised list will be dealt with later in this report.

Because he had opened the box without authority and prematurely, the President decided to video the opening of the ballot box on election day to show that everything was as it should be, should his actions be later questioned. He also video-taped the count in the evening with the agreement of all and apparently the scrutineers can be heard on the tape agreeing with the count. There were apparently no complaints about the taping.

The charge that one candidate was "continually present" inside and outside the polling station "campaigning and influencing voting" is denied by the candidate who says he went into the polling place once to vote, and the rest of the day was working in the Rec Hall next door.

As to whether or not the Local President was authorized to be present in the polling place when it first opened, at lunch, and after work, but virtue of being appointed scrutineer for a presidential candidate, it is true that he did not have written authorization. However, the campaign manager for a presidential candidate appointed him verbally, told the election officials of this appointment, and they agreed to let him act in that capacity on that basis.

I feel that this poll was well run apart from the irregularities noted, and feel that these irregularities would not have influenced how people voted in any way, and are in themselves insufficient to taint this poll.

The point the complainant makes about the illegality of the ballot box that travelled between the communities of Bear Creek, Black Point, and Garson Lake was dealt with by the CEO declaring it a "travelling ballot" box and not counting it for that reason.

The Third Criterion

Election Dispute Resolution

The MNS Constitution Act Article 8 - Elections, lays out the duties and responsibilities of the Commission which is to oversee and conduct Métis Nation Saskatchewan elections as follows:

- "8.7.1 A Métis Election Commission composed of 3 Senators is empowered to oversee and conduct the general elections and by-elections of the Organization.
- 7.4 ... the Commission shall have sole authority and responsibility to conduct the elections and shall be independent and answerable only to the Métis Nation Legislative Assembly.
- 7.6 The Commission shall be responsible for official recounts and appeals.
- 7.7 The decisions of the Commission shall be final and binding, subject to the right of appeal to the Métis Nation Legislative Assembly, which decision shall be final and binding."

The Métis Election Commission therefore oversees the election and handles any appeals that result from it. There is an old saying that "Justice must not only be done, it must be seen to be done." By handling both the election process and the appeals that may arise from it the perception can arise that the Election Commission is judge, jury and hangman. Perhaps it would be wiser to have an appeals body unconnected to the Election Commission, that holds open hearings into any disputes.

The First Criterion

The first criterion is that there be a set of rules and regulations that clearly outline the electoral process, and that are fair and enforceable. The two main pieces of Métis legislation that cover the election procedures are the MNS Election Act (Appendix A) and the MNS Election Regulations (Appendix B). These two pieces of legislation, while well intentioned, are poorly drafted. They are often in conflict with each other, for example as regards the purpose of one of the most important election documents—the poll book. Under the MNS Election Act at Section 2.16, poll book is defined as:

2.16 "Poll Book" shall mean the list of names of citizens who have received ballots at an election pursuant to this Act."

The purpose of the same Poll Book is stated in the MNS Election Regulations at Section 29.1 as:

"29.1 The Poll book shall contain the names of all electors listed on the Electoral List and the signatures of all electors next to their name on the Electoral List."

There are other examples, some of which have been noted elsewhere in this report.

Both these pieces of Legislation need careful redrafting. For example in the MNS Election Regulations Sections 19, 20, and 21 should more sensibly be included with Section 30 - Counts; Section 22 should be situated between Section 31 and 32 and so on. This kind of redrafting needs to be done if the regulations are to act as a guide to DRO's since the DRO's need careful, logically arranged steps to follow when conducting a poll.

Both pieces of Legislation need to be more specific in their directions. For example the MNS Election Act at Section 5.8 requires the Chief Electoral Officer to:

"5.8 Prepare, print and distribute forms for use pursuant to this Act."

MNS Election Regulations at Section 17.2 states:

"17.2 The ballot papers shall be in the form prescribed by the Chief Electoral Officer.

As a result, the ballots were printed with the executive and regional director both on the one ballot. Someone from another region, not entitled to vote for the Regional Director in the region where they sought to vote, therefore had the opportunity to do so. If the ballot was a form under the regulations, this kind of error could be prevented. All forms such as poll books, poll statements, oaths, authorizations, envelopes, seals, etc., should be forms contained in the regulations so that a CEO, perhaps unfamiliar with the intimate machinery of elections can run one without having to reinvent the wheel each time. Had these forms been included in the MNS Election Regulations then perhaps ballots would have been properly sealed in envelopes and ballot boxes properly sealed for transport, etc. If future elections are to run based on this model, then it is essential that the legislation be tightly drafted so that everything from the creation of voter's lists to the final count is carefully and logically detailed.

An Alternative Electoral Process

Short of turning to a third party to oversee Métis elections as is apparently done in Alberta, a suggestion made by many Métis people frustrated by the present process, is there an alternative election model that could be developed to avoid the kind of problems elucidated in this report and yet still be run by the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan itself?

Marilyn Poitras, in her perceptive Electoral Reform Study commissioned after the 2001 election made many excellent suggestions to reform the system, few of which were adopted. Two of her key suggestions were the development of a central registry and the creation of a permanent Chief Electoral Officer. If I may quote from some of the recommendations made in her report:

- "5. Create a central registry which cannot be subject to change by presidents, regional directors or anyone else for political reasons. This system should ... be designed to be updated for change of address, marriage, birth or death at one central location.
- 6. Remove the Central Registry from the political process by leaving control of it with a neutral body.
- 8. Issue MNS membership cards with photos, name, date of birth and an identifying number (Saskatchewan Health Number or Social Insurance Number) to avoid problems with people having the same names or moving. This would assist in portability of membership.
- 11. Establish an elections office which has the time and the resources to run a competent election. Key to this is to keep it at arm's length from the MNS."

One of her final recommendations is the creation of a permanent Chief Electoral Officer.

My suggestion would be to combine these two offices, the central registry and the electoral office into one office with one officer selected to be both Registrar and CEO. A politically neutral Métis lawyer could be sought by an independent head-hunting firm and established in an office facility independent of the MNS.

I suggest that the Registrar/CEO be a lawyer since as an officer of the court they would be more likely to be accepted in dealing with government agencies such as

Saskatchewan Health, and their knowledge of law would stand them in better stead when dealing with legislation impacting on the registry and elections.

The Elections Saskatchewan building would be an ideal location for this combined office since it has spare office and storage space and is separate and secure. This location might help to re-inspire confidence in the electoral process, but if this location is not acceptable, then an independent law office would suffice. It would be the Registrar's duty to establish a reliable registry, and keep it up to date by whatever means is feasible - a mutually beneficial relationship could be developed with Saskatchewan Health, Elections Canada, Elections Saskatchewan and other agencies desirous of maintaining current addresses on people. Métis people could then apply for membership either through their Local or direct to the Registrar and receive their membership directly from the Registrar. This would obviate some of the bottlenecks in the current system. Since Métis elections are now set at a permanent time every four years, it would be incumbent on Métis members to make sure that the registry have their permanent address in the weeks prior to the election which can now be well advertised in Local and Regional offices and in the press.

A specified number of days before election day the Registrar/CEO would mail out ballots to all those listed on the registry. The mail out would contain: a stamped return mail envelope; a declaration envelope on which the Métis citizen's signature, card number and other pertinent information necessary to identify them to the Registrar/CEO must be completed; a ballot for executive positions; a separate ballot for the regional director; a plain envelope in which to seal the executive ballot; and a plain envelope in which to seal the Regional Director ballot. The voter would complete the declaration envelope, mark the ballots and seal them in the designated ballot envelopes, seal the ballot envelopes in the completed declaration envelope, and seal the declaration envelope in the stamped pre-addressed envelope and mail it back to the Registrar/CEO. As the return envelopes arrive at the Elections Office, the Registrar/CEO would open them, check the declaration envelope so as to be satisfied that the voter is bona fide, and if so satisfied, open the declaration envelope and place the sealed ballot envelopes in appropriate ballot boxes. If the Registrar/CEO is not satisfied that the declaration envelope is bona fide, it would be set aside unopened for future consideration if necessary. All ballots must be received by the Registrar/CEO by a specified date at which time the Registrar/CEO, in the presence of candidates and scrutineers and possibly in conjunction with the Provincial Chief Electoral Officer, would open the ballot boxes, remove the ballots from their envelopes and proceed with the count. If there are clear winners at the end of that process then the results can be announced. If the margin of victory in any given race is less than the number of declaration envelopes set aside, then at

that point a final determination of whether or not each of those envelope's ballots should be considered would be made. When this has been done, the results can be announced.

There are several advantages to the use of such a mail-in system. First it demands that the Métis Registry be kept current, second there is no need to train election personnel, third it prevents political interference with voters' lists, fourth, it should obviate the need for an appeals procedure, and fifth, it is cost-effective. On this last point, it costs Elections Canada in the region of \$100 million to run an election, and Elections Saskatchewan several million. A Métis election run on a similar model as is the case now cannot be done successfully on the limited moneys available. To fund such an election adequately would be a once every four year expense, whereas if the same amount of money were laid out over a four-year period it would fund not only the election but also the Métis Registry. One further advantage of a mail out system is that each candidate could provide a photo, brief biography and platform, that could be included in the mail out package, so that voters have a better idea for whom they are casting their ballots, as one of the complaints I heard was that the candidates were not known to many voters.

Finally, such a system outlined above would be completely different to the current election model in which so many Métis citizens have lost faith. A complete change of system might be one way to restore that faith.

Registry of Locals

The Registrar/CEO could also be in charge of a Registry of Locals whereby Locals would file their constitutions with that office. Strict criteria for admission and dissolution of Locals could be developed, administered by the Registrar/CEO and thus keep Locals safe from the politics of Regional Councils. By submitting their annual membership reports to the Registry of Locals rather than to MNS Head Office, the Registrar would have a further means of keeping abreast of changes to Local membership lists and thus keeping the Citizens Registry up to date. If so requested by a Local, the Registrar/CEO could also give advice/assistance with a Local's elections.

The Unofficial Count

The CEO did not provide adequate direction to election officials as to how to conduct the count on election night. Had he included MNS Election Regulations Sections 30 and 31 (see Appendix B), and the necessary envelopes and seals to the DRO's, they would have been able to count and secure the ballots and ballot boxes in a much more tamper-proof way. Since he did not include these sections, and his directions lacked detail, rumors abound that some ballot boxes were "stuffed" at this election. Since if this occurred, it would have been done secretly, it is not possible to prove either way. It is however useful to determine whether this could have been accomplished easily and if so, what precautions could be employed to prevent such a possibility at future elections.

1. Ballots

It would appear that some 47,000 ballots were printed, (a figure not disputed by the CEO when mentioned to him), that they were not sequentially numbered, and that they were ostensibly arranged in books of 100 but according to the CEO, there were rarely exactly 100 in each book (which seems very odd given the precision of today's printing machines).

Further, the ballots were printed with the name of a candidate for the Treasurer's position who had previously withdrawn from the race. In order to avoid incurring additional printing costs, the name of that candidate was blacked out manually. According to the sworn testimony of one witness, one candidate told her that he assisted in this process. If this is the case, it is most irregular, as was the whole procedure.

During this blacking out process, because the ballots were not sequentially numbered, one or two could have been removed from each book of 100 (which may account for why there were never exactly 100 in each book), or a few books of ballots could have been spirited away by one of those helping. I am not suggesting that this was actually done, but rather pointing out that these lax procedures allow for the possibility.

2. Poll Book

In the directions given to DRO's by the CEO, there is no mention of ruling a line across the page on which the last voter's signature appears, and "X"-ing out the remainder of the page so that no additional names can be entered thereafter. Again, I am not suggesting that names were entered into poll books after polls were closed but rather that failure to "X" out the rest of the page allows for the possibility. (Even following the procedure outlined in MNS Election Regulations Section 30.1 would have accomplished this but the CEO failed to include mention of this section in his directions.)

3. Seals and Envelopes

The CEO directions to DRO's as to the handling of ballots at the close of poll are somewhat confusing. They state:

"Record the sequenced ballots as the poll closes and the unused ballots and secure them. Record the sequenced ballots and enter it in the envelope and seals. The numbers will be contained there. The envelope is to be sealed and placed in the ballot box after the initial count and is to be sent to Prince Albert inside the ballot box.

At the close of the polls the Deputy Returning Officer is to make the initial count ... And at the end of the initial count is to put everything back into the box including the unused ballot paper sealed with the sequenced seals and recording it in the poll box with all other seals to be recorded ..."

When the ballot boxes were opened at the final count according to the CEO, only spoiled ballots were in an envelope. All other ballots were loose and not in envelopes, although they sometimes had elastic bands around them. Unused ballots were not counted at the final count so no reliable tally of ballots returned against ballots issued was possible. If the CEO's directions had followed MNS Election Regulations Section 31, these and the following problems may not have arisen.

The only seals used, as far as I can ascertain, were metal seals used to seal the ballot box. These can easily be cut, the ballot box opened and resealed with a spare seal from inside the ballot box (there were spares in the boxes because the metal seals do not always work). The contents of the ballot box would then be in plain view since ballots were not in envelopes let alone the envelopes being sealed with a self-adhesive paper seal. Such seals, if they had been used, should have been

signed by the DRO, poll clerk and any scrutineers present to make opening an envelope clearly noticeable. Likewise, no paper self-adhesive seals were placed over the edges of the ballot box and similarly signed by those present so as to render a ballot box virtually tamper proof.

Because of the laxity described above, it would have been fairly easy for an unscrupulous person(s) to "stuff" a ballot box should they have had that aim in mind.

4. Simple Ways in which a Ballot Box could have been "Stuffed"

Leaving aside the possibility of collusion with DRO's, there would be two possible methods of ballot box "stuffing" depending on the number of voters who voted in a given poll:

- a) In a poll where few people voted:
 - i) Cut the metal seal and open the ballot box;
 - ii) Write additional names of voters from the voters' list into the poll book as having voted (poll book and voters' list are in the ballot box);
 - iii) Take the unused ballots and mark them for the candidates of choice, ensuring that the number of ballots match the number of voters entered in the poll book;
 - iv) Make sure to doctor any record of ballots or results contained in the ballot box to match the new totals;
 - v) Put all materials back into the ballot box and reseal it with a spare metal seal from the ballot box;
 - vi) Phone or fax the poll "results" to the CEO.
- b) In a poll where larger numbers of people voted:
 - i) Have the appropriate number of unused ballots on one's person;
 - ii) Cut the metal seal and open the ballot box;
 - iii) Remove some or all of those ballots cast for other candidates and replace them with a similar number of ballots marked for the candidates of choice;
 - iv) Doctor any record of ballots or results contained in the ballot box to match the new totals;
 - Reseal the ballot box with a spare metal seal from inside the ballot box;
 - vi) Phone or fax the poll "results" to the CEO.

5. Simple Ways to Prevent Ballot Box "Stuffing"

There are simple preventative measures that would render any attempt at ballot box "stuffing" extremely difficult to accomplish successfully.

A. Ballots

- i) Ballots should be in standard books of 100, stapled, and with a perforation so that when a ballot is removed a stub is left behind.
- ii) Ballots should be sequentially numbered from 00001 to 47000 (or however many are to be printed) and the stub should bear the same number as the ballot.
- iii) The CEO should keep a record of the ballot numbers put in each ballot box to be sent to a DRO. e.g. two books 00001 -00100 and 00101 - 00200.
- iv) At the close of the poll, before the initial count, the DRO should record on a Ballot Paper Account and Poll Statement sheet the number of ballot papers (and their sequential numbers) received from the CEO, the number of voters appearing in the poll book as having voted, the number (and sequential numbers) of unused ballot papers, the number of ballot papers spoiled or declined, and the number of ballot papers unaccounted for (if any). These should total to the same number of ballots issued by the CEO to the DRO.
- v) Also on this poll statement, the number of votes counted for each candidate should be recorded. The total of votes cast for each candidate and the number of unused, spoiled and rejected ballots should again come to the same total as the number of ballots issued for that poll by the CEO. The poll statement, after the voting results have been relayed to the CEO, should then be put in its own special envelope.

The ballots should be put in their own separate envelopes provided by the CEO for the purpose as follows:

- (a) Unused ballots and stubs of used ballots sealed in one envelope.
- (b) Spoiled and rejected ballots sealed in another.
- (c) Votes cast for each candidate sealed in separate envelopes, one for each candidate.

- (d) The three classes of ballots above (a), (b) and (c) should then be sealed in one large envelope.
- B. The Poll Book

After the last voter has voted at close of poll a line should be drawn across the page immediately under the last named voter, and the balance of the page "X"'d out. The DRO, poll clerk and scrutineers present should then sign along the "X" to prevent any further names being added thereafter.

- C. Seals and Envelopes
- i) Self-adhesive paper seals should be used to seal all envelopes and the DRO, poll clerk and any scrutineers present should sign across the seal to prevent its being tampered with.
- ii) The sealed and signed envelopes, poll book and voters' list should then be placed in the ballot box and the metal seal number that is to be used to seal the ballot box should be recorded on the poll statement. The box should then be sealed with that metal seal. Self-adhesive paper seals should be used to cover the slot in the lid of the box to prevent anything else from being deposited in the box, and placed over the lip of the ballot box and signed across the lip by the DRO, poll clerk and scrutineers. Thus if an unauthorized person cut the metal seal to open the box, the paper seal would have to be broken to gain access and since this seal is not replaceable because of the signatures, such tampering would become self-evident.

The Official Count

The MNS Election Act Article 5 states:

- "5. The Chief Electoral Officer shall:
 - 5.12 Reconcile all ballots for both unofficial and official counts, ..."

The MNS Election Regulations section 32 states:

"32.1 The Chief Electoral Officer, within no longer than fourteen (14) days of the Election Day, will proceed with the official count."

The official count is simply an addition of the poll statements in each of the ballot boxes, and an opportunity for candidates and their scrutineers to look at declarations and poll books to determine whether there were any voters who voted who may not have been eligible. If it is found that there are more ineligible voters voting than the margin of votes by which a candidate won, then there are grounds to appeal the election result.

The only time that a recount of ballots is permitted is detailed in MNS Election Regulations Section 34 - Appeals.

- "34.3 Where it appears that two or more candidates have an equal number of votes, and the Chief Electoral Officer cannot declare a candidate to be elected, the Chief Electoral Officer shall immediately conduct a recount of the ballots as hereinafter provided.
 - 34.4 If it is made to appear by the statement of a candidate filed with the Chief Electoral Officer at any time within fourteen (14) days from the date of the election that any ballot papers may have been improperly counted or rejected on application made to him/her for the purpose, the Chief Electoral Officer shall appoint a time and place where he/she will proceed to recount the ballots and he/she shall give notice thereof in writing to the Métis Elections Commission, the election officers and the candidates."

The section goes on to describe what the CEO is to do if there is a clear winner, or if two or more candidates still have an equal number of votes.

There is a big difference then, between an official count and a recount. I am not aware of any request being made by a candidate to the CEO under MNS Election Regulations. Section 34.4 above, and no two candidates had an equal number of votes under section 34.3 above.

One can only conclude that the Chief Electoral Officer erred in not providing adequate direction to DRO's regarding the procedure to be followed at the unofficial count on election night, and erred again in holding a recount rather than the official count called for under MNS Election Regulations Section 32.1 noted above. This latter error resulted in concentrating everyone's attention on the ballots, and minimizing time allowed for perusal of poll books especially since the CEO is said to have promised that the poll books would be available for review at the MEC Appeals.

Voter's Lists

The Chief Electoral Officer, in an affidavit sworn before a Commissioner for Oaths in Saskatoon on July 13, 2004 states:

"I had to compile the electoral lists. Presidents of all the Locals of the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan were contacted to review and submit their electoral lists of voters. <u>I could only use names submitted by these presidents, and I could not use any names submitted by any other individual once the presidents had provided me with their input ..."</u>

If this is the case, how does the CEO explain Frenchman Butte Local #92 where 102 names were added to the voter's list none of which were submitted by the President, or Wilkie Local #132 which did not have a president (being listed as inactive) and yet 209 names were submitted by someone other than a president. How does the CEO explain Prince Albert Local #7's voter's list being arbitrarily cut from 52 pages to 42, or La Loche and RMCR Region and others who had to fight to get their lists accepted only to find them arbitrarily altered. Tampering with voter's lists in an exclusive election is barely removed from tampering with ballot boxes and it is the CEO's responsibility to ensure that the voter's lists are sound.

Admittedly, the CEO is somewhat at the mercy of the lists given to him since he cannot be privy to every Local in the province. It would seem that the role of the Registrar and the Registry Office is limited by MNS Election Act Article 8 - Electoral List as follows:

- "8. The Electoral List shall:
 - 8.2 Be compiled by the Chief Electoral Officer from the most recent Local Citizenship Lists on file at the Métis Nation Saskatchewan Office."

It would perhaps be wise to involve the Registrar and Registry to a far greater degree in the preparation of initial voter's lists to be sent out to Local Presidents, and in the checking of any revisions that may have been added to the revised lists when they are returned by Local Presidents.

Locals

Article 7 of the MNS Constitution deals with Locals and states:

"7.1 The Locals shall be the basic unit of the Organization in each community."

The Local and its fundamental importance to the MNS has been explored earlier in this report. However, the MNS Constitution Act Article 7 goes on to state that:

- "7.3 New Locals can be admitted by the Regional Councils provided this decision is ratified by the Métis Nation Legislative Assembly and the requirements herein are met.
- 7.4 Locals can be dissolved by the Regional Councils provided this decision is ratified by the Métis Nation Legislative Assembly and the requirements herein are no longer met.
- 7.5 The Métis Nation Legislative Assembly shall adopt rules pertaining to the admission and dissolutions of Locals."

There would appear to be at least two regions where Regional Directors are manipulating Locals. In Western Region IA, the Regional Director seems to have created "pocket" Locals like Hamlin, Wilkie, Marshall, Maymont and Denholm which give him a majority of votes on the Regional Council, and since Locals are not weighted in terms of how their votes (based on their membership numbers) count at MNLA meetings, a hefty voting block to boot. In Western Region III, the Regional Director seems to have gone the other way and dissolved or ejected from the Region Regina Beach Local #29, RMCR Local #110, Swift Current Local #35 and Maple Creek Local #12. This manipulation by Regional Directors impacts on elections by either inflating voter's lists with ineligible names and false addresses as seems to have occurred in Western Region IA, or depriving Métis citizens of the opportunity to vote as in Swift Current and Regina Beach in Western Region III.

Unless the MNLA adopts stronger guidelines on the admittance and/or dissolution of Locals, this situation will continue to have a deleterious effect on the running of elections.

There is also a problem of disputes within Locals that can impact on how smoothly elections are run, for example the Meadow Lake situation and the problems in Maple Creek and Makwa/Loon Lake. The MNS Constitution Act Article 12.4 states:

"12.4 That the Senate be given the power to resolve disputes occurring in the Regions and Locals. Further, that decisions of the Senate shall be final and binding."

Internecine struggles at the Local level cannot create conditions conducive to the running of smooth elections and such matters should be resolved at an early date to prevent a carryover to the next election.

Conclusion

I was asked to give my opinion as to whether the Métis Nation of Saskatchewan Election of May 26, 2004 was conducted in a fair and democratic manner such that the results could be trusted by both the Métis people themselves and by the Government of Saskatchewan.

I began this report by saying that there are three criteria necessary to a fair and democratic election, the first criterion being a set of rules which clearly outline the election process and that are fair and enforceable. The MNS Election legislation is poorly drafted, often contradictory, sometimes confusing, but in the main, if followed sensibly, adequate to the purpose.

The second criterion was that the rules and regulations outlining the electoral process are in fact followed and are clearly seen by the electorate as having been followed. In the foregoing pages it has been shown that electoral lists were improperly prepared, notices of date, time and place of poll were inadequately posted, ballot boxes were misdirected, many voters were disenfranchised, the control of ballots was lax, the directions to DRO's were inadequate, election officials received no training, the ballots cast were not counted accurately, one presidential candidate was allowed to appeal and overturn the official election results without going through the appeals process and so the list goes on. The rules then were often flagrantly flouted at times by accident, sometimes by design and were seen to be flouted by many of the Métis electorate.

The third criterion was that there be provision for the settlement of any disputes that might materially affect the outcome of the election, by an independent tribunal. Under MNS Legislation, the Election Commission also handles appeals and in my conversations with appellants who had appealed to that body, it was not my impression that they were satisfied that they had had a fair hearing. Denying access to ballot boxes and poll books was the key element in this dissatisfaction.

In order to challenge the results of an election in a Court of Law, one must show that the number of any ineligible voters who voted exceeds the margin of victory. Access to the ballot boxes and the poll books, etc., therein, is a sine qua non for such a determination. However, without access to the ballot boxes, I think I can safely say that if that access were granted, the answer to the question posed as to whether or not the Métis people and the Government of Saskatchewan can trust those election results, is, in short, no.